

Membership Policy

Prepared by	Anne Wilson, Corporate Services Director
Policy created	//
Date of last review	February 2018
Date of current review	December 2023
Date of next review	November 2026
Reviewed by	Management Committee

Corporate Fit	Internal Management Plan	
	Risk Register	✓
	Business Plan	✓
	Equalities Strategy	✓
	Legislation	✓



Get in touch

0141 763 1317 | www.tollcross-ha.org.uk | info@tollcross-ha.org.uk Tollcross Housing Association | 868 Tollcross Road | Glasgow | G32 8PF

If you require this document in an alternative format, please contact info@tollcross-ha.org.uk.











Registered Scottish Charity No.SC040876 | Registered with the Scottish Housing Regulator No.197 | Registered Property Factor No.PF000261 | Registered Society under Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 2014 No.1798RS

Our policies provide a framework to underpin our vision and values, to help us achieve our strategic objectives.



Our Vision

Local people, local control.

By providing quality homes and services, we will create stronger communities and a better quality of life for our customers.

Our Values

- Focused on the needs of our customers and communities.
- Supportive of our staff and Committee members.
- Responsible, efficient, and innovative.

- Open and accountable.
- Inclusive and respectful.
- Fair and trustworthy.

Strategic Direction

Consolidation and improvement: Applicable to our core business as a landlord & property manager.

Growth: Through the new build opportunities, we are taking forward.

Partnerships: Where this can help to address shared goals and increase capacity and value.

Resilience: A key priority across all parts of our business.

Strategic Objectives

Services: Deliver quality, value for money services that meet customers' needs

Homes & neighbourhoods: Provide quality homes and neighbourhoods.

Assets: Manage our assets well, by spending wisely.

<u>Communities</u>: Work with local partners to provide or enable services and activities that benefit local people and our communities as a whole

<u>Our people</u>: Offer a great workplace environment that produces a positive staff culture and highly engaged staff.

<u>Leadership & Financial</u>: Maintain good governance and a strong financial business plan, to ensure we have the capacity to achieve our goals.

Our Equalities and Human Rights Commitment

We understand that people perform better when they can be themselves and we are committed to making the Association an environment where employees, customers, and stakeholders can be open and supported. We promote equality, diversity, and inclusion in all our policies and procedures to ensure that everyone is treated equally and that they are treated fairly on in relation to the protected characteristics as outlined in the Equality Act 2010.

Privacy Statement

As data controller we will collect and process personal data relating to you. We will only collect personal information when we need this. The type of information we need from you will vary depending on our relationship with you. When we ask you for information, we will make it clear why we need it. We will also make it clear when you do not have to provide us with information and any consequences of not providing this. We are committed to being transparent about how we collect and use your data, and to meeting our data protection obligations with you. Further information about this commitment can be found within our full Privacy Statements.

Policy Scope & Review

For the purpose of this policy the term Association will include all members of the Tollcross Housing Association Limited. Therefore, all employees, governing body members, volunteers, customers and other relevant stakeholders will be expected to adhere to this policy and/or procedure. All policies and procedures are reviewed every 3 years in line with best practice and current legislation. The Association reserves the right to make additions or alterations to this policy and procedure from time to time. Any timescales set out in this policy may be extended where required.



Contents

Section		Pages
1.	Introduction	2
2.	Regulatory & Legal Framework	2
3.	Risk Management	3
4.	Equalities and Human Rights	3
5.	Promotion of membership	3
6.	Who can join	3-4
7.	Who can't join	4
8.	Procedures for applying for membership	4-5
9.	Members rights and responsibilities	5
10.	Member participation	4-6
11.	Termination of membership	6
12.	Expulsion of members	6
13.	Membership Records	7
14.	Management Committee Membership	7-9

Appendices		Pages	
1	١.	Equalities Impact Assessment	10



1. Introduction

- 1.1. Tollcross Housing Association Limited (the Association) is a membership organisation, and aims to attract people from the groups and communities it serves to become members of the Association. The Association seeks to establish a wide and active membership by recruiting as members, individuals with an interest in the work of the organisation and to make effective use of the skills, experience and views of its members. Our membership is an important means of enhancing and demonstrating our accountability to the community in which we operate. We will actively promote membership through appropriate channels as a way of providing opportunities for interested parties to play an active part in the affairs of the Association. Some of the ways we promote membership are detailed in Section 5 of this policy.
- 1.2. Members of the Association are those people who hold a share in the Association and whose names are entered into the Register of Members. It is a requirement of membership that members are supportive of the aims and objectives of the Association.
- 1.3. This policy aims to promote good governance of the Association and to ensure the proper accountability of its Committee of Management by having a membership which is as wide as possible, subject to the criteria described in Section 6.
- 1.4. Tenants come first in every decision Tollcross Housing Association takes, so it's not surprising we want as many tenants as possible to become members of the Association. Membership is a real opportunity for tenants to have their voice heard.
- 1.5. The purpose of the policy is to set out the criteria by which the Management Committee consider applications for membership and outline the roles and responsibilities of membership.

2. Regulatory & legal framework

- 2.1. The Scottish Housing Regulator's Regulatory Framework states:
 - Standard 1: The Governing body leads and directs the RSL to achieve good outcomes for its tenants and other service users.
 - Standard 5: The RSL conducts its affairs with honesty and integrity.
 - Standard 6: The governing body and senior officers have the skills and knowledge they need to be effective.
- 2.2. Personal data held by the Association relating to membership shall be stored securely and in line with the Association's Data Protection, Freedom of Information and Data Retention Policies.
- 2.3. The Association is registered with the Financial Conduct Authority as a Registered Society under the Co-operative and community Benefit Societies Act 2014 and is a recognised Scottish Charity and registered as a property factor. The rules are as published by the Scottish Federation of Housing Associations in co-operation with the Scottish Housing Regulator, and as amended from time to time by the Membership of the Association.
- 2.4. Copies of our rules may be obtained from our registered office or by visiting our website www.tollcross-ha.co.uk.



3. Risk Management

- 3.1. The Association has considered the potential risks facing the Association should the Membership Policy fail to be adhered to.
- 3.2. The Association shall be in breach of its legal obligations should it fail to comply with the rules on membership to the Association as set out in the SFHA Charitable Model Rules (Scotland) 2020. Should this occur, the Scottish Housing Regulator could appoint representatives to assist in the governance and management of the Association's business. This could have an adverse affect on our creditability and future funding opportunities.
- 3.3. In order to minimise this risk, the Association ensures the staff employed to deal with membership issues are fully conversant with the rules of the Association. Conditions for membership are regularly published in the Newsletter and contained within the membership application form.

4. Equalities and Human Rights

- 4.1. An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out when reviewing this policy. In line with good practice the completed EIA will be published alongside the Membership Policy.
- 4.2. Where there is a need for follow-up action, the tasks and timeframe for achieving them shall be noted in the Equality and Human Rights Action Plan to ensure they are addressed.
- 4.3. We do not see this policy as having any direct impact upon the protected characteristics contained within the Equality Act 2010.

5. Promotion of membership

- 5.1. The Association will promote membership by circulating information on membership to tenants, sharing owners, residential and commercial factored owners and other owner occupiers, housing applicants, local community and representative groups, local authority departments, housing advice agencies and by providing information on membership on our website; social media platforms; and via leaflets and newsletters, at scrutiny and event focus group meetings and at local events.
- 5.2. The Management Committee (MC) supports the principle that the membership should reflect the Association's responsibility to stakeholders including tenants, future tenants, local residents and others interested in furthering social housing objectives locally.
- 5.3. The MC recognises that to achieve a diverse and representative membership, it needs to promote membership opportunities to tenants and others throughout the community on an ongoing basis.
- 5.4. A membership application will be issued to all housing applicants and new tenants of the Association. Tenants and residents will be encouraged to join the Association and advised of the special rights that membership offers.

6. Who can join

- 6.1. You must be at least 16 years old to apply for membership.
- 6.2. No member can hold more than one share in the Association.



- 6.3. The Association seeks to ensure broad representation in its membership of the groups and communities that it serves. To this end, the Association will particularly welcome applications from:
 - Tenants of the Association
 - Service users of the Association
 - Other persons who support the objectives of the Association
 - Organisations sympathetic to the objectives of the Association
- 6.4. The Association undertakes a regular exercise in comparing existing Committee membership demographics against Association membership. This is measured against the Scottish Census and more recently, will also be measured against our tenant profiling outcomes to helps us to identify sections of the community that are underrepresented.
- 6.5. The Association accepts applications from organisations, in accordance with the rules relating to representing an organisation.

7. Who can't join

- 7.1. Membership will not be granted to the following categories of applicant.
 - Where membership would be contrary to the Association's Rules or policies.
 - Where a conflict of interest may exist which, even allowing for the disclosure of such an interest, may adversely affect the work of the Association.
 - Where the Committee considers that accepting the application would not be in the best interests of the Association.

8. Applying for membership

- 8.1. Those who want to apply for membership should contact the Association for a membership form. The completed form (appendix 2) should be sent with £1.00 to the Secretary at the registered office.
- 8.2. Every application is considered by the Management Committee of the Association at its next meeting after the application is received, or as soon thereafter as is practicable. No applications will be considered by the MC within the 14 day period occurring before the date of a general meeting.
- 8.3. Once approved, the Association will, within seven working days, include the applicant's name and other necessary particulars within the Register of Members. We will also write to the new member to confirm their membership, and issue a Share Certificate and a copy of the Association's Rules. Details of how members can participate in the organisation including the AGM and how to stand for election to the Committee of Management will be issued to all members prior to every AGM.
- 8.4. While it is the Association's intention to encourage membership, the Management Committee has absolute discretion in deciding on applications for membership, taking full account of the membership policy and Rules of the Association.
- 8.5. The Management Committee will designate each new member either:
 - Tenant member Membership in the category will be open only to tenants (including joint tenants) of the Association.
 - General member Membership in this category will be open to local residents who are not tenants. This could be a member of any household, an owner occupier or sharing



- owner living in a property owned or managed by Tollcross Housing Association. It also covers organisations that are sympathetic to the objects of the Association.
- Non local members non local resident is a person who lives beyond the boundaries of the stock owned and managed by the Association.
- Specific expertise membership in this category will be open to those with specific expertise or professional interest or skill that could be considered an enhancement to the Management Committee. They may also live beyond the boundaries of the stock owned and managed by the Association.
- 8.6. The Management Committee will have the final say where an applicant satisfies more than one of the membership criteria, which category they should be registered under.
- 8.7. Where an application is unsuccessful a written statement of the reasons for refusal will be given to the applicant with 14 days of the date of the decision. An applicant will then have one further opportunity to request membership and to give reason why the decision should be changed. This should be made in writing within 14 days of receipt of the refusal.
- 8.8. The Management Committee will consider the reasons at its next meeting or as soon thereafter as practicable and its decision on that occasion will be final. The applicant will be informed within 14 days of the date of the final decision.

9. Members rights & responsibilities

- 9.1. The Association will hold an Annual General meeting to provide members with a report on the affairs of the Association, a report from the auditor on the annual accounts and balance sheet and to give members the opportunity to elect members to the Management Committee. Each member will be entitled to stand for election to the Management Committee and to nominate and help elect other prospective Committee members.
- 9.2. Members are entitled to attend and participate in all general meetings of the Association. Members must submit apologies if they are unable to attend a general meeting.
- 9.3. Members are entitled to receive the latest audited accounts and any annual report at the General Meeting. It should be noted that according to the Association's constitution there is no right to receive interest, dividends or bonuses on members' shares.
- 9.4. Members have the right to appoint the Auditor.
- 9.5. Members have the right to vote in person or by proxy at such meetings in accordance with the rules.
- 9.6. Members have the right to amend the Association's rules. This may only be done at Special General Meeting by a resolution passed by at least three quarters of the members, subject to the Scottish Housing Regulator (SHR) and the Scottish Charity Regulator (OSCR) approving the rule change.
- 9.7. Members elected to the Management Committee will have the opportunity to influence the strategies, policies and management of the Association.

10. Member participation

10.1. The Association wishes to ensure its members are informed and can actively participate in the organisation. To this end, the Association will:



- publicise general meetings at least 14 days before the day of the meeting
- send written notice of meeting to members home at least 14 days prior to the meeting
- circulate information to members so they can make informed decisions at the general meetings. Where information in particular format or language is required, the Association will endeavour to provide this
- make every effort to hold general meetings at times and locations suitable for membership, and which is accessible
- keep members informed on all major developments affecting the Association
- make a copy of our annual accounts available to all our members
- provide all our members with a copy of our Landlord Performance Report
- actively promote the opportunities that exist, through election, for serving on the Management Committee

11. Termination of membership

- 11.1. Membership will cease when a member:
 - Resigns by giving written notice to the Secretary
 - Is expelled in accordance with Rule 11.1.4
 - Changes address but does not notify the Association of their new address within three months, unless the new address is also a property of the Association
 - Fails to attend and submit apologies for 5 Annual General Meetings
 - Dies
 - In the case of where a corporate body ceases to be a corporate body
 - ceases to fall within the definition of membership criteria
- 11.2. The Management Committee will end the membership and cancel the share. The £1.00 membership fee is not refundable on termination of membership. The value of the share will then belong to the Association with effect from the date of the Committee resolution to that effect. The ending of the membership will be recorded in the Register of Members.

12. Expulsion of members

- 12.1. Members can be expelled from membership if we receive a complaint about their behaviour and there is evidence to show that they have been involved in conduct capable of being detrimental to the interests of Tollcross Housing Association.
- 12.2. The following conditions apply to this process:
 - The Secretary will call a Special General meeting
 - The Secretary will write to the member not less than one calendar month before the meeting takes place outlining the basis for expulsion and asking the member to attend the SGM to answer the complaint.
 - If the member is given proper notice but does not attend the meeting without providing good reason, the meeting will go ahead without the member being present.
 - At the SGM the members attending will be presented with evidence and asked to reach a view
 - A vote will be taken on a resolution to expel the member concerned. This can be done
 in person or by proxy.
 - If two thirds or more of the members present vote in favour of the resolution the member will be expelled.
 - If we end a membership in this way, any further application for membership by that person will need to be approved by two thirds of the members voting at another General meeting.



13. Membership records

- 13.1. Tollcross Housing Association will keep a proper register of members containing the names and addresses and such other particulars of members. The original register (manual) is the substantive evidence of membership. This register will be made available for public scrutiny should the need arise. The duplicate register will be computerised.
- 13.2. The membership records are maintained in accordance with the rules of the Association in the following form.
 - A Register of Members This contains the names and addresses of members, the amount paid, what category the member falls within (e.g. tenant or general member), the date in which each person was entered on the register as a member, the date at which and reason for any person ceases to be a member (the original register).
 - A Duplicate Register of Members Member names and addresses, the date on which
 they became members, the category of membership, attendance at AGM and the date
 and reason for the person ceasing to be a member (this is a computerised register).

14. Management Committee Membership

- 14.1. The Association has a Committee of Management which shall have a minimum of 7 and maximum of 15 members (including Co-optees). The Management Committee shall endeavour to have a mix of representatives from each of the membership categories outlined in Section 8 of this Membership Policy. Each member must be 18 years of age or over.
- 14.2. The Management Committee is responsible for directing the affairs of the Association and its business and may do anything lawful which is necessary or expedient to achieve the objects of the Association. The Committee is responsible for the leadership, strategic direction and control of the Association with the aim of achieving good outcomes for its tenants and other service users in accordance with Regulatory Standards and Guidance issued by The Scottish Housing Regulator from time to time.
- 14.3. <u>Eligibility for the Committee</u>: A person will not be eligible to be a Committee Member and cannot be appointed or elected as such if:
 - they are an undischarged bankrupt, has granted a trust deed which has not been discharged or is in a current Debt Payment Plan under the Debt Arrangement Scheme (in terms of the Debt Arrangement Scheme (Scotland) Regulations 2011); or
 - they have been convicted of an offence involving dishonesty which is not spent by virtue of the Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974 or an offence under the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005; or
 - they are a party to any legal proceedings in any Court of Law by or against the Association; or
 - they are or will be unable to attend the Committee Meetings for a period of 12 months;
 or
 - they have been removed from the Committee of another registered social landlord within the previous five years; or
 - they have resigned from the Committee in the previous five years in circumstances where the resignation was submitted after the date of their receipt of notice of a special



committee meeting convened to consider a resolution for their removal from the Committee in terms of Rule 44.5; or

- they have been removed from the Committee in terms of Rules 44.4 or 44.5 within the previous five years; or
- they have been removed, disqualified or suspended from a position of management or control of a charity under the provisions of the Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Scotland) Act 1990 or the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005; or
- they have been removed from the office of charity trustee or trustee for a charity by an order made by the Charity Commissioners for England and Wales or by Her Majesty's High Court of Justice in England on the grounds of any misconduct in the administration of the charity for which they were responsible or to which they were privy, or which their conduct contributed to or facilitated; or
- a disqualification order or disqualification undertaking has been made against that person under the Company Directors' Disqualification Act 1986 or the Company Directors Disqualification (Northern Ireland) Order 2002 (which relate to the power of a Court to prevent someone from being a director, liquidator or administrator of a company or a receiver or manager of company property or being involved in the promotion, formation or management of a company); or
- A member of your household and/or your spouse or partner (as set out in Rule 40.3) is already a Committee Member.
- their nomination for election to the Committee has been rejected in accordance with Rule 40.4 during the period between the return of the completed nomination form and the commencement of the relevant Annual General Meeting.

14.4. <u>Ending Committee Membership</u>: A Committee member will cease to be a Committee Member if:

- they resigns their position as a Committee Member in writing; or
- they ceases to be a Member unless they are a co-optee in terms of Rule
- or an appointee of The Scottish Housing Regulator; or
- they misses four Management Committee meetings in a row without special leave of absence previously being granted by the Committee either at their request or by exercise of the Committee's discretion; or
- the majority of Members voting at a general meeting decide this. (The Members at the meeting may then elect someone to take their place. If a replacement is not elected at the meeting, the Committee may appoint a Committee Member in terms of Rule 41); or
- the majority of those remaining Committee Members present and voting at a special meeting of the Committee convened for the purpose decide to remove him/her as a Committee Member. The resolution to remove him/her as a Committee Member must relate to one of the following issues:
- failure to perform to the published standards laid down by the
- Scottish Federation of Housing Associations and/or The Scottish Housing Regulator adopted and operated by the Association;
- failure to sign or failure to comply with the Association's Code of Conduct for Committee Members; or
- a breach of the Association's Rules, standing orders or other policy requirements;
- they becomes ineligible as a Committee Member in terms of Rule 43; or
- they are a co-optee or was appointed to fill a casual vacancy and whose period of office is ended in accordance with Rules 39.1 or 42.1; or



- they are a Committee Member retiring in accordance with Rule 39.1; or
- they was a representative of an organisation and that organisation has withdrawn its authority from that person in accordance with Rule 12.3.

14.5. Co-optees:

- The Management Committee can co-opt to the Committee anyone who is suitable to become a Committee Member.
- Co-optees do not need to be members of the Association, but they can only serve as co-optees on the Committee until the next annual general meeting or until removed by the Committee.
- A person co-opted to the Committee can also serve on any Sub-Committee. They can take part in discussions at the Committee or any Sub-Committee meetings and vote at Committee and Sub-Committee meetings on all matters except those which directly affect the membership of the Association or the election of the Association's Office Bearers.
- Co-optees may not stand for election, nor be elected as one of the Office Bearers of the Committee.
- Committee members co-opted in this way must not make up more than one-third of the total number of the Committee or Sub-Committee members at any one time.
- The presence of Co-optees at Committee Meetings will not be counted when establishing whether the minimum number of Committee Members is present to allow the meeting to take place.

14.6. Casual vacancies:

- If an elected Committee Member leaves the Committee between the annual general meetings, this creates a casual vacancy and the Committee can appoint a Member to take their place on the Committee until the next annual general meeting.
- A person filling a casual vacancy must be 18 years of age or over and unless appointed by the Scottish Housing Regulator, must be a member of the Association.



Appendix 1 – Equality Impact Assessment

Policy	Membership Policy				
EIA Completed by	Corporate Services Director	El	A Date	Dec 2023	
1. Aims, objectives and purpose of the policy / proposal					
This policy aims to promote good governance of the Association and to ensure the proper accountability of its Committee of Management by having a membership which is as wide as possible, subject to the criteria described in Section 6.					
2. Who is intended to	benefit from the policy / proposal	?			
Customers, employees and stakeholders – it provides a clear framework for membership of the Association to ensure no dubiety.					
3. What outcomes are	wanted from this policy / propose	al?			
A clear understanding of the membership of the Association.					
4. Which protected characteristics could be affected by proposal?	Disability Marriag	reassignment e & civil partnership ncy and maternity	o ∏ Se	eligion or belief ex exual orientation	
5. If the policy / proposal is not relevant to any of the protected characteristics listed in part 4, state why and end the process here.					
The policy does not negatively impact any protected characteristic, as any tenants can become a member.					
6. Describe the likely impact(s) the policy / proposal could have on the groups identified in part 4					
7. What actions are required to address the impacts arising from this assessment? (This might include; collecting data, putting monitoring in place, specific actions to mitigate negative impacts).					